RECEIVED

SEP 15 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS
The Honorable John D. Geathers

Case No. 2015-000514

Hugh Allen Palmer.....Petitioner,

v.

Richland County Assessor.....Respondent.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Kenneth B. Wingate
Matthew J. Myers
Post Office Box 12129
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 256-2233
Attorneys for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:

Malane S. Pike
Post Office Box 729
White Rock, SC 29177
(803) 622-1493
Attorney for Respondent

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I. Did the Court of Appeals err in granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Petitioner's Appeal by holding that Rule 29(D) of the South Carolina Rules of Procedure for the Administrative Law Court automatically denied Petitioner's motion for rehearing of a contested case hearing more than 30 days before Petitioner filed his notice of appeal?

II. If not, does the extension of Rule 29(D) of the South Carolina Rules of Procedure for the Administrative Law Court to encompass Petitioner's motion for rehearing otherwise violate the Petitioner's right to judicial review, notice and the opportunity to be heard under the South Carolina Constitution, as well as violating the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act and public policy?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 10, 2014, the South Carolina Administrative Law Court ("ALC") ruled in favor of the Respondent on Petitioner's underlying commercial property tax appeal, which ruling was received by Petitioner on September 12, 2014 (App. 16). On September 22, 2014, Petitioner subsequently served his Motion to Alter or Amend or for a Rehearing of the ALC's decision, presenting the motion for rehearing in the alternative should the ALC deny the motion to alter or amend (App. 22).

On October 2, 2014, Respondent served its Response to Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend or for a Rehearing, and Petitioner awaited further direction from the ALC so that Petitioner could proceed accordingly (App. 34). However, in early February 2015, Petitioner received notice from Respondent that Respondent considered the tax protest closed without further action from the ALC under Rule 29(D) of the South Carolina Rules of Procedure for the Administrative Law Court ("SCRPALC").

Therefore, on February 11, 2015, Petitioner wrote the ALC to remind it that Petitioner's motion for rehearing remained pending and to request a ruling on the same (App. 44). In response, on February 13, 2015, Respondent wrote the ALC to argue that the ALC rules did not provide for a right of rehearing, and therefore, Petitioner's deadline to appeal the matter had expired 30 days after Petitioner's motion to alter or amend was automatically denied under SCRPALC Rule 29(D) (App. 45).

On February 19, 2015, the ALC issued a Notice of Motion Hearing, though indicating via email that the hearing was limited to "whether the ALC rules allow for a motion for rehearing." (App. 50). In response, Petitioner requested a ruling on the motion itself, which Petitioner believed he had a clear right to file as recently confirmed by this Court (App. 52). However, the ALC instead simply issued a Notice of Cancellation of Motion Hearing on March 6, 2015 (App. 53). Though the cancellation order contained no explanation, the ALC's cover letter for the order stated that Petitioner's "motion was deemed improper by virtue of § 1-23-650(C), supra, and was considered as a motion for reconsideration under ALC Rule 29(D) and since no action was taken thereon by the Court within thirty (30) days after filing, it was deemed denied." (App. 54).

Accordingly, though not stated in an official order, the ALC appears to have agreed with Respondent that Petitioner had no right to request a rehearing, and therefore, SCRPAALC Rule 29(D) could automatically deny Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend or for a Rehearing in total. Of note, Respondent's argument and the ALC's conclusion that Petitioner had no right to request a rehearing was not raised by Respondent or the ALC, including in Respondent's responsive pleading to Petitioner's motion for rehearing, until it was too late for Petitioner to appeal the automatic denial of Petitioner's motion to alter or amend under SCRPAALC Rule 29(D).

Still having no direct ruling on Petitioner's validly filed motion for rehearing, Petitioner considered the Notice of Cancellation of Hearing to be a denial of the same. Accordingly, on March 11, 2015, Petitioner filed his Notice of Appeal of the ALC's underlying September 10, 2014 ruling (App. 55).

Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss Petitioner's appeal on March 23, 2015, again on the basis that Petitioner allegedly had no right to request the rehearing of an ALC decision (App: 1). However, this argument was soon conclusively rejected by the South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in *Rhame v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 412 S.C. 273, 772 S.E.2d 159 (2015), *reh'g denied* (June 4, 2015), of which Petitioner notified the Court of Appeals by letter dated April 30, 2015. Nevertheless, on May 18, 2015, the Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's appeal on the basis that SCRPAALC Rule 29(D) automatically denied both of Petitioner's motions (App. 90).

On June 2, 2015, Petitioner served a Petition for Rehearing of the Court of Appeal's dismissal on the grounds that SCRPAALC Rule 29(D) was by its own terms specifically limited to motions to alter or amend, and therefore, Petitioner's motion for rehearing had not

been automatically denied and remained pending until the ALC's March 6, 2015, Notice of Cancellation of Hearing (App. 92). However, on July 24, 2015, the Court of Appeals ultimately denied Petitioner's Petition for Rehearing, stating simply that no "material fact or principle of law has been either overlooked or disregarded." (App. 115).

Following an order of this Court granting an extension to file, this Petition for Writ of Certiorari is hereby filed for the purpose of overturning the Court of Appeals dismissal of Petitioner's appeal from the ALC, which has resulted in a substantial infringement of Petitioner's constitutional rights as explained herein. Furthermore, upon information and belief, this Petition presents a novel question of law regarding the scope of SCRPALC Rule 29(D). Alternately, to the extent the Court of Appeals' underlying dismissal can be read as holding Petitioner's motion for rehearing was not allowed in the first instance, this Petition otherwise addresses an implied repudiation of this Court's decision in *Rhame v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 412 S.C. 273, 772 S.E.2d 159 (2015). Finally, the substance of Petitioner's appeal would allow the Court and/or Court of Appeals to address novel questions of law regarding an assessor's alleged power to reappraise property based on the assessor's subjective determination of "changed conditions" under S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-90(c).

ARGUMENT

- I. **THE COURT OF APPEALS COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISMISS PETITIONER'S APPEAL ON THE BASIS THAT RULE 29(D) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT AUTOMATICALLY DENIED PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR REHEARING OF A CONTESTED CASE HEARING MORE THAN 30 DAYS BEFORE PETITIONER FILED HIS NOTICE OF APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT.**

As a starting point, the ALC was created by the South Carolina General Assembly under the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act (“SCAPA”), and is considered an “agency” for purposes of SCAPA and its numerous provisions concerning administrative procedure and appeals. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 1-23-500 & -310(2).

Among the procedures mandated by the General Assembly is the manner of appeal:

Proceedings for review are instituted by serving and filing notice of appeal as provided in the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules within thirty days after the final decision of the agency or, if a rehearing is requested, within thirty days after the decision is rendered. Copies of the notice of appeal must be served upon the agency and all parties of record.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(1) (emphasis added).

In construing this section, the South Carolina Supreme Court recently and conclusively held that SCAPA establishes an independent right to request a rehearing of a contested case hearing under SCAPA. *Rhame v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 412 S.C. 273, 276, 772 S.E.2d 159, 161 (2015) (“The plain language of section 1-23-380(1) indicates that the legislature, by including the phrase ‘if a rehearing is requested,’ intended to allow motions for rehearing before all administrative agencies that are governed by [SCAPA].”). *See also* Rule 203(b)(6), SCACR (“If a timely petition for rehearing is filed with the administrative tribunal, the time to appeal for all parties shall be stayed and shall run from receipt of the decision granting or denying that motion.”); Rule 31, SCRPALC (“The decision of the administrative law judge may be appealed as provided by law.”).

In this case, Petitioner filed both a “motion to alter or amend” the underlying ALC decision “or, in the alternative, for a rehearing of the same.” Accordingly, the threshold legal issue now before the Court is whether SCRPALC Rule 29(D) applied to automatically deny both of Petitioner’s motions, in which case Petitioner’s Notice of

Appeal was untimely, or whether SCRPAALC Rule 29(D) applies only to Petitioner's motion to alter or amend, in which case Petitioner's deadline to file a Notice of Appeal was tolled, pursuant to Rule 203(b)(6) of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules ("SCACR"), until the ALC affirmatively ruled on Petitioner's motion for rehearing.

The answer to this interpretive issue is perhaps deceptively straightforward, since SCRPAALC Rule 29(D) specifically states that it applies only to "motions to alter or amend" and at no point does the word "rehearing" appear:

Motion for Reconsideration. Any party may move for reconsideration of a final decision of an administrative law judge in a contested case to alter or amend the final decision, subject to the grounds for relief set forth in Rule 59, SCRCP, as follows:

(1) Within ten (10) days after notice of the order concluding the matter before the administrative law judge, a party may move for reconsideration of the decision, provided that a notice of appeal from the decision has not been filed. The opposing party may file a response to the motion within ten (10) days of the filing of the motion.

(2) The administrative law judge shall act on the motion for reconsideration within thirty (30) days after it is filed if an opposing party does not file a response or within thirty (30) days after an opposing party files a response. If no action is taken by the administrative law judge within the applicable period, the inaction shall be deemed a denial of the relief sought in the motion.

(3) The filing of a motion for reconsideration shall not stay the order of the administrative law judge or excuse or delay compliance with the order of the administrative law judge.

(4) The time for appeal for all parties shall be stayed by a timely motion for reconsideration, and shall run from receipt of an order granting or denying such motion. If no order is filed regarding the motion, the time for appeal shall begin to run thirty (30) days from the date the motion is deemed denied pursuant to subsection (D)(2).

The filing of a motion for reconsideration is not a prerequisite to filing a notice of appeal from a final decision of an administrative law judge.

SCRPAALC Rule 29(D) (bold in original and underline added for emphasis).

In addition to expressly limiting itself to a request “to alter or amend the final decision,” SCRPALC Rule 29(D) uses the alternate vernacular of “motions for reconsideration.” To that end, “motions for reconsideration” have a long history of being equated specifically with “motions to alter or amend” as provided in Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (“SCRCP”), which in turn are distinct from “motions for rehearing” as provided in Rule 59(a), SCRCP. *See Elam v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 21, 602 S.E.2d 772, 778-79 (2004) (“A motion under Rule 59(e) long has been viewed as ‘motion for reconsideration’ despite the absence of those words from the rule.”)

Rule 59(e) in the South Carolina and federal rules of civil procedure is practically identical. Neither contains any provision for a motion for “reconsideration.” However, federal courts consider it appropriate for a party to make a “motion for reconsideration” under Rule 59(e) even though the rule mentions only a “motion to alter or amend a judgment.” This view holds true even when a party mislabels a post-trial motion.

Id. at 22, 602 S.E.2d 779 (footnote omitted). *See also, e.g., Buist v. Buist*, 410 S.C. 569, 573, 766 S.E.2d 381, 383 (2014) (referring to a motion to reconsider as a Rule 59(e), SCRCP motion to alter or amend); *Town of Hollywood v. Floyd*, 403 S.C. 466, 479, 744 S.E.2d 161, 167 (2013) (referring to Rule 59(e), SCRCP motion as a motion for reconsideration); *Kiawah Prop. Owners Group v. Public Service Comm’n of S.C.*, 359 S.C. 105, 113, 597 S.E.2d 145, 149 (2004) (differentiating between a “motion to reconsider, alter or amend a judgment” brought under Rule 59(e), SCRCP and a motion for a new trial”) (citations omitted); *Calhoun v. Calhoun*, 339 S.C. 96, 101, 529 S.E.2d 14, 17 (2000) (referring to Rule 59(e), SCRCP motion as a motion for reconsideration).

The lack of the word “rehearing” in SCRPALC Rule 29(D) is not a mere oversight, as it is specifically used several times in SCRPALC Rule 40, which pertains to

appeals from specific state agencies not at issue in this matter. In addition, SCRPAALC Rule 29(D) was amended to specifically address motions to alter or amend only after this Court's ruling that such motions must be allowed even where the SCRPAALC Rules are silent. *See Home Medical Systems, Inc. v. S.C. Dept. of Rev.*, 382 S.C. 556, 677 S.E.2d 582 (2009).

Even if the drafters of SCRPAALC Rule 29(D) had wanted the amended version to also address motions for rehearing, of which there is no evidence, they simply failed to use the proper words to do so. As this Court has long held, statutes should be construed liberally in favor of the right of appeal. *Stroup v. Duke Power Co.*, 216 S.C. 79, 83, 56 S.E.2d 745, 747 (1949). *See also Elam v. S.C. Dept. of Trans.*, 361 S.C. 9, 25, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) (noting "civil procedure and appellate rules should not be written or interpreted to create a trap for the unwary lawyer or party."). However, it does not take a liberal construction to simply limit the scope of a rule of procedure to the words actually found therein.

In this case, not only did Petitioner's counsel interpret SCRPAALC Rule 29(D) as not applying to his motion for rehearing, but Respondent's counsel and the presiding judge of the ALC believed the same. First, Respondent's counsel has argued extensively below that SCRPAALC Rule 29(D)'s silence as to motions for rehearing precludes the possibility of filing a motion for rehearing whatsoever, which argument has since been negated by this Court. Second, in its cover letter to its Notice of Cancellation of Hearing, the ALC stated that Petitioner's motion for rehearing "was deemed improper by virtue of § 1-23-650(C) [providing that ALC hearings must be conducted exclusively in accordance with the ALC Rules]." (App. 49). Thus, if the ALC Judge believed that

SCRPALC Rule 29(D) also covered motions for rehearing, then he could not logically have concluded that such a request was "improper."

Based on the forgoing, the only reasonable conclusion is that SCRPALC Rule 29(D) applies only to Petitioner's motion to alter or amend, leaving his motion for rehearing pending until ruled upon by the ALC. At the very least, the studied interpretations of SCRPALC Rule 29(D) by no less than three experienced members of the South Carolina Bar, on behalf of opposing parties and an independent tribunal, indicates a palpable confusion regarding the scope of ALC Rule 29(D), and this confusion should not be resolved in such a manner as to deprive Petitioner of an important legal right of appeal.

Finally, it may also be noted that had Petitioner's counsel had any inkling that Respondent would argue that SCRPALC Rule 29(D) precludes motions for rehearing and that the ALC would agree, which position this Court has since negated, or that the Court of Appeals would otherwise extend Rule 29(D) to include motions for rehearing despite the rule being devoid of any language regarding the same, Petitioner could have and would have easily filed a Notice of Appeal at an earlier time. As it stands, however, Petitioner's substantive claims have been needlessly ignored, wasting not only Petitioner's private funds, but also judicial resources and Richland County tax revenue.

II. THE EXTENSION OF RULE 29(D) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT TO ENCOMPASS PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR REHEARING OTHERWISE VIOLATES THE PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO JUDICIAL REVIEW, NOTICE AND THE OPPORTUNITY TO BE HEARD UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION, AS WELL AS THE SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT AND PUBLIC POLICY.

Assuming, arguendo, that ALC Rule 29(D) could be extended to cover motions for rehearing, such an extension as applied in this matter – retroactively rather than prospectively – would violate Petitioner’s constitutional rights and South Carolina public policy and law. Article I, Section 22 of the South Carolina Constitution provides three separate protections with regard to the Petitioner’s pending appeal:

No person shall be finally bound by a judicial or quasi-judicial decision of an administrative agency affecting private rights except on due notice and an opportunity to be heard; ... nor shall he be deprived of liberty or property unless by a mode of procedure prescribed by the General Assembly, and he shall have in all such instances the right to judicial review.

S.C. CONST. ART I, § 22 (emphasis added). Thus, a violation of any of these protections renders an action unconstitutional. Note that “agency” as used in the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act includes the ALC per S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-310(2).

As stated previously, Petitioner filed a motion for rehearing of a decision of the ALC that has yet to be ruled on, other than by way of the ALC’s March 6, 2015 Notice of Cancellation of Motion Hearing. (App. 48). Furthermore, Petitioner had no notice that a written rule that does not mention motions for rehearing whatsoever, and specifically references a different type of motion, could nevertheless be applied by the Court of Appeals to automatically deny Petitioner’s motion for rehearing, and therefore render Petitioner’s subsequent Notice of Appeal untimely. In addition to having no merit, this result is also unconstitutional for three independent reasons under Article I, Section 22 of the South Carolina Constitution.

First, it would deprive Petitioner of the important and fundamental right of judicial review. Second, it would deprive Petitioner of the opportunity to be heard on the matters raised in his motion for rehearing not previously addressed by the ALC. Third, it

would follow a mode of procedure contrary to that mandated by the General Assembly. Though the first two points are self evident, the latter requires additional explanation, and also addresses why the extension of SCRPALC Rule 29(D) also violates SCAPA.

The General Assembly created the ALC and has the ultimate authority to establish its rules of procedure. *See* S.C. Code §§ 1-23-500 & -650(B) (Supp. 2014). To that end, the ALC may only promulgate rules of procedure that are consistent with the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (SCRCP) and not already addressed by SCAPA:

Rules governing practice and procedure before the court which are: (1) consistent with the rules of procedure governing civil actions in courts of common pleas; and (2) not otherwise expressed in Chapter 23, Title 1; upon approval by a majority of the judges of the court must be promulgated by the court and are subject to review as are rules of procedure promulgated by the Supreme Court under Article V of the Constitution.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-650(B) (Supp. 2014).

As the ALC has itself noted, “[p]ursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-650(B) (Supp. 2009), ALC rules may not be promulgated unless they are ‘consistent with the rules of procedure governing civil actions in courts of common pleas.’” *Heath Hill v. S.C. Dept. of Health & Envtl. Contr. and SCE&G*, Docket No. 10-ALJ-07-0625-CC, 2010 WL 5781666 *11 (Dec. 9, 2010). Similarly the SCRCP provide that they “govern the procedure in all South Carolina courts in all suits of a civil nature whether cognizable as cases at law or in equity, with the exceptions stated in Rule 81. They shall be construed to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.” Rule 1, SCRCP.

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