THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS
The Honorable John D. Geathers

RECEIVED

Case No. 2015-000514

OCT 14 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

Appellate Case No. 2015-001756

Hugh Allen Palmer.....Petitioner,

v.

Richland County Assessor,.....Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Malane S. Pike
S.C. Bar No. 4469
PO Box 729
White Rock, SC 29177
(803) 622-1493
Attorney for Respondent

Other Counsel of Record:

Kenneth B. Wingate
Matthew J. Myers
Post Office Box 12129
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 256-2233
Attorneys for Petitioner

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

ARGUMENT

I. Palmer has not provided any valid reason to issue a writ of certiorari in this case.

Rule 242, SCACR, provides a list of five items to indicate the character of reasons which will be considered in determining whether to grant a writ of certiorari. Each of those items will be addressed below as they relate to this matter.

(1) Novel Questions of Law

There are no novel questions of law in this matter. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-650(C) (Supp. 2014) and Rule 69, SCRPALC, provide that the SCRPALC governs once the ALC has jurisdiction of a case. The SCRPALC does not specifically provide for a Motion for Rehearing but its judges do have discretionary authority to use the SCRCP, pursuant to Rule 68, to resolve questions not otherwise addressed in the rules. In this case, there was no reason to exercise discretionary authority in that the Motion for Reconsideration, pursuant to Rule 29(D), SCRPALC, provided Palmer an appropriate remedy and Palmer made no arguments as to why Judge McLeod should exercise his discretion to allow a Motion for Rehearing. Notably, Palmer did not mention Rule 29(D) in his Motion to Alter or Amend or for a Rehearing even though he has argued in subsequent filings that a motion to alter or amend is the same as a motion for reconsideration. It is also notable that Palmer, knowing that he had filed one motion which was the equivalent of a motion for reconsideration that could be denied by the passage of time along with an alternate

motion which was not specifically provided for in the SCRPALC, did not contact the ALC after the thirty day decision period had elapsed to determine the status of his motion for rehearing. All of this suggests that his failure to file a timely Notice of Appeal was an oversight and not a novel question of law.

(2) Dissent in the Decision of the Court of Appeals

There is no evidence that there was any dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals. All three judges who considered this matter, Chief Judge John Few, Judge John Geathers (former Administrative Law Judge), and Judge Jasper Cureton, were of the same mind on the issue presented.

(3) Court of Appeals Decision Conflicting with Prior Supreme Court Decision

The Court of Appeals decision dismissing this case does not conflict with any prior Supreme Court decision. Although Palmer relies on Rhame v. Charleston County School District, 412 S.C. 273, 772 S.E. 2d 159 (2015) for the proposition that Motions for Rehearing are allowed in the ALC, that decision interprets S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(1) (Supp. 2014) which is expressly not applicable to the ALC per S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-310(2) (Supp. 2014). The corollary of §1-23-380(1) for the ALC is found in S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-610(A) (Supp. 2014). Notably, the language of §1-23-380(1) specifically addresses the issue of rehearings while the language of §1-23-610(A)(1) does not. Since the reasoning of the Rhame decision centered around the clear and unambiguous language of §1-23-380(1), which specifically references motions for rehearing, the result in the Rhame decision would not be the same if analyzing §1-23-610(A), which makes no mention of motions for rehearing. Thus, if one applies the

reasoning in Rhame to the matter at hand, the Court of Appeals decision in Palmer is consistent with Rhame.

Further, the ALC, through its rules of court, has a method of correcting its own mistakes via Rule 29(D), SCR PALC, Motion for Reconsideration and via Rule 68, SCR PALC, discretion to utilize SCRPC for questions not otherwise addressed. Thus, the ALC has rules in place to prevent the evils being corrected in the Rhame case.

(4) Involves Substantial Constitutional Issues.

This matter does not involve substantial constitutional issues. Further, the constitutional issues raised by Palmer have not been properly raised in this matter. Although Palmer attempts to raise a South Carolina constitutional issue and a due process issue in his Petition for Writ of Certiorari, those issues were not specifically raised before the Court of Appeals nor did the Court of Appeals rule on those issues. The South Carolina constitutional issue has never been mentioned in any of Palmer's previous filings. Palmer fleetingly mentions due process in his Return to Motion to Dismiss (App. 74) and in his Petition for Rehearing (App. 97) but never raises such as an issue for the Court of Appeals to determine. Accordingly, these issues cannot now be raised pursuant to Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR .

(5) Involves Federal Question where Court of Appeals Conflicts with United States Supreme Court.

This is not applicable to the case at hand.

While the reasons set forth in SCACR Rule 242(b) are not all-inclusive, no special or important reason exists to justify the Court reviewing this matter, and Palmer offers no grounds other than its disagreement with the decision.

II. The Court of Appeals' decision that the procedural aspects of this case should be governed by the SCRPALC, and more specifically Rule 29(D), SCRPALC, is well reasoned in light of the facts of this case and is grounded by South Carolina statutory law and common law.

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act empowers the ALC to adopt rules governing practice and procedure before it. (S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-650(B) (Supp. 2014)). It requires that the ALC's rules be consistent with the rules of procedure governing civil actions in the Court of Common Pleas and not otherwise expressed in Chapter 23, Title 1. It further provides that "all hearings before an administrative law judge must be conducted **exclusively** in accordance with the rules of procedure promulgated by the Court pursuant to this section". (S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-650(C) (Supp. 2014)). Emphasis added.

In compliance with the above statute, the ALC adopted the rules that are currently known as SCRPALC. These rules are consistent with the SCRCPP but do not adopt every rule found in the SCRCPP. Wholesale adoption of the SCRCPP is not required. If §1-23-650(B)(1) were to be construed to require such, there would be no need for the ALC to have rules independent of the SCRCPP. This Court has consistently held that it will not construe a statute in a way which renders it meaningless. See Ranucci v. Crain, 409 S.C. 493, 763 S.E.2d 189 (2014); Doe v. South Carolina Department of Social Services, 407 S.C. 623, 757 S.E.2d 712 (2014); State v. County of Florence, 406 S.C. 169, 749 S.E.2d 516 (2013); Barton v. South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, 404 S.C. 395, 745 S.E. 2d 110 (2013); Tempel v. South Carolina State Election Com'n, 400 S.C. 374, 735 S.E.2d 453 (2012); Florence County Democratic Party v. Florence County Republican Party, 398 S.C. 124, 727 S.E.2d 418 (2012).

However the ALC has been conscientious in its efforts to promulgate rules that promote judicial economy and promote fairness to all parties. To this end, it promulgated Rule 68, SCRPALC, to give its judges the discretion to implement other rules contained in the SCRCP to resolve questions not addressed in its rules.

In the case at hand, Palmer's motion was captioned "Notice of Motion and Motion to Alter or Amend or for a Rehearing" and he requested such under Rule 68, SCRPALC and Rule 59, SCRCP. The relief requested was the same with either motion. Palmer was requesting that the judge consider evidence and authority that was not presented at the hearing, namely certain case authority that was not presented at the hearing and an appraisal of the subject property which was in his possession prior to the hearing and listed in his prehearing statement.

With regard to the Motion to Alter or Amend, it is obvious that this motion was provided for in Rule 29(D), SCRPALC, rather than Rule 68, SCRPALC and the ALC treated it as such. With regard to the Motion for Rehearing, such is not specifically provided for in the SCRPALC and Palmer made no arguments as to why the judge's discretion should be used to allow it. In fact, its request for a new hearing consisted of two sentences as follows:

To the extent that the Court does not reverse its decision as a matter of law based upon the evidence before it, Petitioner requests a new hearing to more fully address the issue of changed conditions as ultimately articulated by Respondent at the hearing. Petitioner is also willing to reconvene for the purpose of determining the question of Respondent's contempt and sanctions. (App. 32) ²

²Pursuant to Palmer's Prehearing Statement, the issue of "changed conditions" was known to him at least as far back as the hearing before the Richland County Board of Assessment Appeals. Further, the issue in the ALC hearing was "changed conditions", thus Palmer was asking for a second bite at the apple.

The assessor provided additional case authority to the Court and to Palmer at the hearing. Palmer never requested a continuance of the hearing in order to consider the case authority presented by the Assessor, and notably, he provided no case authority to support his position at the hearing. Thus, Palmer made the post hearing motions at issue to provide evidence and authority that should have been provided at the hearing. The judge properly recharacterized the motion as a Motion for Reconsideration under Rule 29(D), SCRPALC, since there were no arguments made as to why his discretion to allow a Motion for Rehearing should be exercised and the circumstances did not indicate that the questions presented could not otherwise be handled by a Motion for Reconsideration. A court's authority to recharacterize a motion according to its substance and effect as opposed to its caption is well grounded in case law. See Mickle v. Blackmon, 255 S.C.136, 140, 177 S.E.2d 548,549 (1970); Standard Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn. v. Mungo, 306 S.C. 22, 26, 410 S.E.2d 18, 20 (Ct. App. 1991). It is the substance of the relief requested that matters regardless of the form in which the request for relief is framed. Richland County v. Kaiser, 351 S.C. 89, 94, 567 S.E.2d 260, 262 (Ct. App. 2002). See also Fields v. Regional Medical Center Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 27 609 S.E.2d 506, 510 (2005) where the Court recharacterized a motion for new trial as a motion for reconsideration.

The issue of whether a motion for rehearing is otherwise required by the Administrative Procedures Act for contested cases before the ALC has been indirectly dealt with in the case of Rhame v. Charleston County School District, *supra*. In that case, this Court held that by including the language "if a rehearing is requested" in S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(1) (Supp. 2014), the legislature intended to allow motions for

rehearing before administrative agencies that are governed by the Administrative Procedures Act (APA). The administrative agencies governed by §1-23-380 are defined in S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-310(2) (Supp. 2014) as “each state board, commission, department, or officer, **other than the legislature, the courts or the Administrative Law Court**, authorized by the law to determine contested cases”. Emphasis added. Thus, §1-23-380 is not applicable to the ALC.³ However, the legislature enacted a corollary to this section for the ALC in S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-610 (Supp. 2014), leaving out any mention of a rehearing. The pertinent portion of this statute reads as follows:

(A)(1) For judicial review of a final decision of an administrative law judge, a notice of appeal by an aggrieved party must be served and filed with the court of appeals as provided in the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules in civil cases and served on the opposing party and the Administrative Law Court not more than thirty days after the party receives the final decision and order of the administrative law judge. Appeal in these matters is by right.

The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the intention of the legislature. *Id.* at ___, 772 S.E.2d at 160. When a statute’s terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning. *Id.* at ___, 772 S.E.2d at 160. In interpreting a statute, words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation. *Id.* at ___, 772 S.E.2d at 160.

By putting the language “if a rehearing is requested” in §1-23-380 but not in §1-23-610, the legislature was evidencing its intent to give the ALC full authority to adopt its own rules pursuant to the terms of S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-650 (Supp. 2014). After the

³ Palmer incorrectly asserts that the ALC is an agency for purposes of §1-23-310(2) and §1-23-380. (Petitioner for Writ of Certiorari, p.6)

changes mandated by Home Medical Systems v. South Carolina Department of Revenue, 382 S.C. 556, 677 S.E. 2d 582, (2009), the SCRPALC currently provides for issue preservation and error correction via the Motion for Reconsideration. However, if the current rules do not meet the needs of the parties in a particular matter, the judge can utilize his discretion to invoke other rules from the SCRCP. Palmer was essentially requesting a rehearing such that he could produce evidence and authority that were readily available to him at the time of the first hearing, but which he failed to produce. To invoke the SCRCP in this matter would have been an abuse of discretion.

Finally, Palmer cites the proposition that statutes regarding taxation must be construed in favor of the taxpayer. Alltel Communications, Inc. v. South Carolina Dept. of Revenue, 399 S.C. 313, 321, 731 S.E.2d 869, 873 (2012). He then argues that since this matter concerns a property tax protest, the Court of Appeals decision is tantamount to construing taxation statutes against the taxpayer, Palmer. Palmer is correct in his recitation of the rule of statutory construction, but is incorrect in stating that it should be applied to him in this instance. The matter for which a Writ of Certiorari is being requested is a procedural matter involving the SCRPALC and the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act, not a tax matter. The Court of Appeals recently interpreted this rule of construction to mean that the statute should define who shall be taxed in order to be given this favorable taxpayer construction. Mitul Enterprises, L.P. v. Beaufort County Assessor, 410 S.C. 430, 434, 764 S.E. 2d 720,722 (2014). Clearly, such is inapplicable to the issues for which this Writ of Certiorari is requested.

III. Palmer's South Carolina Constitutional rights to judicial review nor his right to due process have been abridged or violated by the decision of the Court of Appeals in dismissing his action for lack of jurisdiction. Further, the Court's decision does not violate public policy.

It should first be noted that Palmer has not preserved these issues for this court's review. Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR, states that "[o]nly those questions raised in the Court of Appeals and in the petition for rehearing shall be included in the petition for writ of certiorari as a question presented to the Supreme Court". A review of Palmer's Return to Motion to Dismiss in the Court of Appeals and his Petition for Rehearing indicate that there was never any mention of his South Carolina Constitutional rights being violated.

With regard to the due process issue he now raises, such was only mentioned in one sentence in his Return to Motion to Dismiss in the explanation of his argument that the rules of construction support the availability of a motion for rehearing. (App. 74) The same is true of the Petition for Rehearing where due process was again only mentioned in one sentence. (App. 97)

With regard to the public policy issue that he now raises, a review of his Return to Motion to Dismiss reveals a paragraph discussion of public policy concerns. (App. 73-74) However, the issue of public policy is not mentioned in his Petitioner for Review. Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR requires that it be addressed in both documents.

From the above, it is clear that these issues were not raised as required by Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR and should not be subject to review by the Court.

Even if such issues were appropriate for review by this Court, these issues are without merit. There were procedures via statutes and court rules allowing

Palmer to have his issues heard in a meaningful manner. Palmer had a fair hearing before the ALC, although he was not pleased with the result. By affidavit, he admits that he then sought remedies under Rule 68, SCR PALC for the stated reason that he wanted the ALC to have the opportunity to review several decisions he had not provided at the hearing and he didn't want his motion to be subject to automatic denial. (App. 98) Thus, he thought by captioning his motion under a different rule that he could manipulate the SCR PALC so as to avoid "the automatic denial", despite the fact that the substance of his motion was a motion for reconsideration.

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